### EVALUATING THE BARRIERS FACED BY NATIVE HAWAIIAN AND PACIFIC ISLANDER UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS IN SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY, ENGINEERING AND MATHEMATICS

### A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GLOBAL ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE UNDERGRADUATE DIVISION IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

### BACHELOR OF SCIENCE

IN

### GLOBAL ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE

DECEMBER 2020

By

### ARISA BARCINAS

Thesis Advisor

DR. BARBARA C. BRUNO

I certify that I have read this thesis and that in my opinion, it is satisfactory in scope and quality as a thesis for the degree of Bachelor of Science in Global Environmental Science.

THESIS ADVISOR

- Bruno

Dr. Barbara C. Bruno

Hawai'i Institute of Geophysics & Planetology

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my thesis advisor, Dr. Barbara Bruno, for being an incredible mentor, and for her support in completing this project. I would also like to thank the 'Ike Wai/GEOPATHS Education team, including Cherryle Heu, for constantly offering their help. I would also like to thank Dr. Rosie Alegado for reviewing this thesis and providing helpful feedback.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, for all their encouragement, inspiration and love. This research was supported by the National Science Foundation Geoscience Directorate through the Improving Undergraduate STEM Education (IUSE) GEOPATHS program (NSF/GEO # 1565950).

### ABSTRACT

This study evaluates the barriers faced by Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander (NHPI) undergraduate students in Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) at the University of Hawai'i at Mānoa (UHM). First, a literature review was conducted in which potential barriers were identified. A survey was then distributed to NHPI undergraduate STEM majors at UHM to understand the prevalence of these barriers within this group of students. The survey results were then analyzed. Based on the survey results, a website was created to help dismantle these barriers, featuring information and resources regarding scholarships, undergraduate opportunities, tutoring, and NHPI role models in STEM.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgments	. iii
Abstract.	iv
List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	vii
1.0 Introduction	8
1.1 Motivation	8
1.2 Geography/Demographics	9
1.3 Barriers	10
1.3.1 Cultural Barriers	10
1.3.2 Awareness and Exposure to Opportunities	. 13
1.3.3 Geographic Barriers	13
1.3.4 K-12 Education	14
1.3.5 Financial Barriers	14
2.0 Methods	15
2.1 Literature Analysis	15
2.2 Survey	16
2.3 Data	19
2.4 Methods	21
2.5 Website Development	22
3.0 Results and Discussion	22
3.1 Likert Scale Survey Items	22
3.1.1 Cultural Barriers	25
3.1.2 Awareness and Exposure to Opportunity	28
3.1.3 K-12 Education	29
3.1.4 Financial Barriers	29
3.1.5 Geographic Barriers	32
3.2 Open Ended Survey Items	32
3.3 Synthesis of Survey Results	33
3.4 Website	34
3.5 Limitations	34
4.0 Conclusion and Suggestions for Future Work	35
4.1 Conclusion	35
4.2 Suggestions for Future Work	36
Appendix	. 37
References	. 42

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Likert Scale Survey Items	17
Table 2: Likert Scale Quantification	21
Table 3: Likert Scale Data Analysis	23
Table 4: Open-Ended Survey Responses.	

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Ethnicity of Survey Respondents 20
Figure 2. Gender of Survey Respondents
Figure 3. Intended Degree of Survey Respondents
Figure 4. Mean responses for Likert scale items related to family 25
Figure 5. Mean responses for Likert scale items related to cultural disconnect
Figure 6. Mean responses for Likert scale items related to identity and stereotype threat 27
Figure 7. Mean responses for Likert scale items related to awareness and exposure
Figure 8. Mean responses for Likert scale items related to K-12 education 29
Figure 9. Primary sources of funding for tuition, books and housing
Figure 10. Secondary sources of funding for tuition, books and housing 30
Figure 11. Mean responses for Likert scale items related to financial barriers
Figure 12. Mean responses for Likert scale items related to geographic barriers

#### **1.0 Introduction**

#### 1.1 Motivation

Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) affects every aspect of a Pacific Islander's life. The Pacific islands experience unique challenges posed by climate change, including rising temperatures, sea-level rise, saltwater inundation of freshwater resources, coastal erosion, extreme weather events, coral bleaching, and ocean acidification (US Fish and Wildlife Services, 2011; Tribble, 2008; Barnett, 2005). Climate change poses an immediate threat to low-lying Pacific islands and leaves many of these islands vulnerable. Sea-level rise threatens coastal developments and causes habitat loss of endangered species. Effects on fisheries and agriculture of these islands can disrupt food security. Although many Pacific islands rely on groundwater as their primary freshwater source, changing precipitation patterns threaten this supply (Tribble. 2008). Similarly, other aspects of climate change pose additional challenges for Pacific islands and require immediate and continuous adaptation.

Addressing the climate change challenges faced by Pacific islands requires in-depth STEMbased knowledge, research planning and policymaking. In addition, a STEM framework is needed for informing the protection and monitoring of island resources. As Pacific islands begin to see the devastating effects of climate change, the urgency for understanding, adaptation, and mitigation grows.

Climate scientists, as well as other geoscientists, provide critical evidence for informing environmental decisions. However, most scientists based in Pacific islands are non-NHPI, which can be problematic for many reasons (Richardson, 2002; White House Initiative, n.d). A high turnover rate in these jobs can create disconnect in navigating and understanding the ins and outs of the job, and requires that increased resources be spent for re-hiring and re-training (Richardson, 2002). Therefore a better business model would be to hire Indigenous NHPI people because they are more likely to stay on the island for long-term careers.

Another advantage of Indigenous representation is Indigenous knowledge, which is highly complementary to scientific knowledge (Kimmerer, 2013). Indigenous knowledge reconceptualizes the resilience and self-reliance of Indigenous peoples, underscores the importance of their own philosophies, heritages, and educational processes, and fills ethical and knowledge gaps in Eurocentric education, research, and scholarship (Aikenhead & Ogawa, 2007). For Pacific islands, where Indigenous cultures and ways of knowing are important, the merging of Indigenous knowledge and scientific knowledge is essential. The motivation for Indigenous people to perform this work may be more deeply rooted and representative of the community's long-term interests and values.

#### 1.2 Geography/Demographics

The NHPI demographic includes populations of Polynesian, Micronesian, and Melanesian backgrounds, all of which differ in language and culture (Grieco, 1997, White House Initiative, n.d). The largest Pacific islander group in the United States is Polynesian, which includes natives of Hawai'i, Samoa, Tonga, and Tahiti. The second largest group is Micronesians, which includes natives of the Mariana Islands, Federated States of Micronesia, The Republic of Palau, and The Republic of the Marshall Islands. The Melanesian group includes natives of Fiji, Papua New Guinea, and the Solomon Islands (White House Initiative, n.d). Despite the importance of NHPI representation in STEM, NHPI populations are among the most underrepresented groups in STEM (Teranishi et al., 2019). In general, Indigenous people are less likely to attend college than other ethnic groups, partly due to low levels of academic, pre-college preparation (Pavel, 1999), but also due to socio-economic inequities (Levine, 2015). In particular, at the University of Hawai'i only 11% of STEM students currently enrolled in Fall 2020 are NHPI (Institutional Research and Analysis Office, 2020). This is less than half of the 26% NHPI enrollment at UH Mānoa (Institutional Research and Analysis Office, 2020).

#### 1.3 Barriers

The goal of this literature review is to identify challenges faced by NHPI populations that may cause their underrepresentation in STEM higher education. This literature review is not comprehensive of all NHPI communities, but instead provides examples of how various barriers are present in selected Pacific Island communities.

#### 1.3.1 Cultural Barriers

A 2016 report from the National Science Foundation (NSF) workshop on "Recognizing and Removing Barriers to STEM careers for Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders," listed various potential barriers. The first set involved cultural challenges, which included lack of intersection between science and culture, and lack of cultural sensitivity of non-native teachers (Kerr et al., 2018; Levine, 2010). It is essential to look at the history of the Pacific islands and the different cultural, religious, and familial influences in order to identify and understand the cultural barriers.

*Family*. A similarity found across Pacific island cultures is the importance of family, specifically respect for parents, elders, chiefs, and others in authority (Hezel, 2013). In many

Pacific islands, close-knit multi-generational families and communities are common (Handy, 1950; Ratliffe, 2010). In contrast, small nuclear families predominate in the continental US (Yau, 2017). Hezel (2013) describes family as "the heart of the identity of an islander." The influence of family can, however, create a barrier to student success. Family obligations such as religious and traditional practices may interfere with students' success, in that these obligations can take priority over students' studies (Ratliffe, 2010). This lifelong sense of family obligation can create a conflict within Western educational structures based on individualism, and requires cultural understanding on the part of educators to better facilitate student success (Ratliffe, 2010).

Family support while pursuing STEM higher education is vital to success, though lack of support is a common experience for NHPI students. Due to a variety of challenging circumstances, such as low socio-economic status and low educational attainment, parental involvement can be limited and in some cases non-existent (Ratliffe, 2010; Tran et al., 2010). Lack of support is not strictly a lack of involvement or intentional discouragement to pursue a STEM degree. In some cases, parental support is present, but there may be a lack of financial means to obtain extra help (Lee, 2015). For example, some parents might support the idea of their child pursuing a STEM degree but may be unable to take extra measures to ensure their child can succeed, such as paying for STEM tutoring (Harris Interactive, 2011). While strong familial obligation and/or lack of familial support can form a barrier, family may also positively contribute to success. For some NHPI students, family influence can motivate them to pursue STEM and encourage them to persist through challenges faced (Vakalahi, 2008).

*Cultural disconnect*. It is important that students understand that culture is not lost, but rather, valued and how it can be integrated into the process of pursuing higher education (Tran et al, 2010). The implementation of Western curriculum and an absence of cultural perspective from non-native teachers in STEM subjects creates a lack of intersection between science and Indigenous knowledge (Kerr et al., 2018). Increasingly, throughout many Pacific islands, K-12 education follows a Westernized curriculum, and successful STEM students must learn to make connections and navigate in Westernized STEM curricular spaces.

On the other hand, awareness of the cultural disconnect and lack of a place-based curriculum can provide motivation for students to intentionally break this barrier. Kerr et al. (2018) notes that "some students pursuing STEM degrees have become rebellious against educational situations they see arising from colonialism; for example, students pursuing environmental science, biology, and ecology see the need for greater native cultural perspectives."

*Identity and Stereotype Threat*. Negative stereotypes can be harmful to student success. Stereotype threat refers to being at risk of confirming a negative stereotype about one's social group (Steele & Aronson, 1995). Some NHPI students report experiencing negative stereotypes in their academic environment which convey that educational attainment is rarely associated with Pacific islanders (Tran et. al., 2010; Vakalahi, 2008). Negative stereotypes toward Native Hawaiians include that they are not capable of learning math or speaking "proper" English (Sheridan, 2017; Trask, 1999). Another relevant example is the stereotype toward Micronesians from the Federated States of Micronesia who move to Hawai'i, Guam, or the continental United States where some encounter racism, discrimination, poverty, and prejudice, and are seen as "a burden on public assistance" (Kerr et al., 2018). This misconception leaves NHPI students with the extra pressure to battle the stereotype, and this can cause undue stress. Stereotype threat can leave students with little ambition to pursue higher education, especially in STEM (Kerr et al., 2018).

#### 1.2.2 Awareness and Exposure of opportunities

Another barrier faced by NHPI students is the lack of exposure and awareness to opportunities in STEM-related careers (Kerr et al., 2018). In many Pacific islands, particularly the more underdeveloped islands, most STEM careers are occupied by nonnatives. This is partly because there are few natives qualified to fill these positions, which is a problem that needs to be pro-actively addressed by educational institutions (National Academy of Sciences, 2011). However, until they do, this creates a false perception that these positions are not meant for native people. The lack of representation emphasizes the need for native role models in STEM-related careers (Kerr et al., 2018). For many students, role models and mentors can boost their confidence and be a critical factor in their decision to pursue STEM higher education (Tran et al., 2010).

#### 1.3.3 Geographic Barriers

Geographic location can deter NHPI populations from obtaining higher education. While some Pacific islands have two-year (e.g., American Samoa, Papua New Guinea, and Palau) or four-year colleges (e.g., Hawai'i, Fiji, and New Zealand), most do not. Thus, for many NHPI students, obtaining a college-level education requires they move far from home (Kerr et al., 2018).

#### 1.3.4 K-12 Education

Pre-college STEM education is vital to preparing students for success in achieving a STEM degree. However, many NHPI students both in Hawaii and across the Pacific lack a strong background in STEM foundational courses from their K-12 education (Levine, 2015; Kerr et al., 2018). One reason for this is the insufficient training of K-12 teachers in STEM subjects. In Hawai'i, the lack of qualified STEM teachers is particularly prevalent in public schools in lower socio-economic areas, which are disproportionately attended by NHPI (Department of Business, Economic Development and Tourism, 2018).

Furthermore, across the Pacific, a lack of resources and technology can hinder the quality of STEM education, limiting what can be taught, and ways students learn (Levine, 2015). Only a few Pacific Islands (e.g., Papua New Guinea, Northern Mariana Islands) have K-12 schools which offer Advanced Placement (AP) or International Baccalaureate (IB) curriculum and this advanced coursework is generally only offered within private schools (College Board, 2020).

Consequently, only a minority of Pacific Islanders meet college readiness benchmarks for math (30%) and science (25%), which falls short of the comparable figures of 42% and 38% for the general population (ACT & APIASF, 2016). Alarmingly, one study found that only 9% of NHPI students in California schools were ready for college-level math (Sablan, 2015). *1.3.5 Financial Barriers* 

*Financial Assistance*. Due to the high cost of higher education in the U.S., student success and degree completion are directly influenced by financial assistance (Teranishi et al., 2019). Many students rely on financial aid and scholarships to obtain a college degree, which

emphasizes the need for readily available information on these resources (Vakalahi, 2018). Additionally, many NHPI students in the U.S. find themselves faced with competing priorities between work and school, making it difficult to succeed in STEM (Tran et al., 2010).

### 2.0 Methods

This study utilized qualitative and quantitative analysis techniques to understand the challenges faced by NHPI undergraduates in STEM at the University of Hawai'i at Mānoa (UHM).

### 2.1 Literature Analysis

A literature analysis was conducted to identify potential barriers that NHPI students may face when pursuing STEM majors. However, the literature on this narrow topic was found to be very limited. The literature review was therefore expanded to include challenges faced by various minority groups (not just NHPI) in STEM, challenges faced by NHPI populations in higher education (not just STEM), and the different factors that may contribute to each challenge.

First, a comprehensive search of peer-reviewed journals, conference papers and reports were completed based on a wide range of terms including but not limited to: NHPI students in STEM; NHPI students in higher education; minorities in STEM; and barriers to NHPI students in STEM. Then, the reference section of each source was searched to find additional sources. Finally, the OneSearch database was utilized to access books and articles available in the UHM online library and articles and books from databases including ProQuest. This literature review is presented in Section 1.0 Introduction above.

#### 2.2 Survey

Following the literature analysis, a survey was created to gain insight on which barriers identified in the literature are most prevalent and relevant to NHPI undergraduates pursuing STEM at UHM. This survey is described under Section 2.3 Data.

The survey contained a total of 29 items, 24 of which addressed various barriers. Thirteen items addressed cultural barriers, including lack of intersection between science and culture (3 survey items), family (4 survey items) and identity/stereotype threat (6 survey items). Eleven survey items addressed other barriers, including awareness and exposure of opportunities (4 survey items), geographic barrier (1 survey item), K-12 education (2 survey items) and financial barriers (4 survey items). The distribution of these 24 survey items among the different barriers is shown below in Table 1. The survey also included three demographic items: area of study, ethnicity, and gender. Lastly, the survey contained two open-ended questions for students to suggest resources that they would find helpful on a website, and to offer any additional comments.

Table 1. Likert Scale Survey Items						
Cultural Barriers						
Family	Cultural Disconnect	Identity & Stereotype Threat	Awareness and Exposure	Geographic	K-12 Education	Financial
My family obligations take time away from my studies	My STEM classes are grounded in local communities and contexts.	My cultural background has influenced my decision to pursue my major	I am aware of the different career paths available to me with my degree	I chose UH Mānoa due to its proximity to home	My K-12 education prepared me for my STEM college courses	I worry about not having enough money to pay for school
My family was influential on my decision to choose a STEM major	I understand how the material I learn can be applied outside the classroom	My ethnicity affects how my peers interact with me	I have mentors who help me plan for my future		Good K-12 education	I struggle to balance school and work
My family encouraged me to obtain a college degree	Being able to relate the subject material to my personal experience	My ethnicity influences how teachers interact with me	Having a good mentor			My primary funding source for tuition, books and housing
Supportive family		Stereotypes about my ethnic groups bother me	Having a role model			My secondary source of funding for tuition, books and housing
		I am capable of succeeding in STEM				
		Studying hard				

The survey utilized Likert scale items, multiple-choice items and open-ended response items. Likert scale items measured agreement and importance on five-point scales ranging from "strongly agree" to "strongly disagree" and from "extremely important" to "not at all important", respectively. Multiple-choice items required a single answer choice. Multiple choice items evaluated primary and secondary sources of funding. Multiple choice demographic survey items asked for respondents' current major, ethnicity, and gender. These items were placed at the end of the survey, after the barrier items, to avoid potential effects of stereotype threat (Hughes, 2016). Lastly, open-ended questions asked students about what kind of information would be helpful on a website and for additional comments.

The next step involved determining whether or not I needed to submit an application to the UH Institutional Review Board (IRB). IRB approval is required for research that is deemed "human subjects research", to ensure protection of the rights and welfare of participants (U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2019). To answer this question, my advisor contacted the UH IRB office on August 5, 2020 and we were informed that IRB approval was no longer necessary. The IRB representative that we spoke with (Kristin Bacon), wrote: "Whether or not you submit a human subjects' application is all about your intent.... If this is an evaluation where the intent is to inform SOEST, then it is not human subjects research. This is true even if there is a wider dissemination of the results." Since my intent was precisely to gather information to inform SOEST so that NHPI students could be better supported, I did not have to apply for IRB approval.

The survey was distributed as a Google form and was intended to be completed in 6-7 minutes. A screenshot of the survey is included in the Appendix. The survey was distributed

on October 13, 2020 to seven listservs and one social media channel with a large number of subscribers in my target audience (NHPI undergraduates in STEM at UH Mānoa). The seven listservs include: SOEST Maile Mentoring Bridge, Native Hawaiian Student Services, Decolonizing STEM, Native Hawaiian Science & Engineering Mentoring Program (NHSEMP), SOEST student services, Society for the Advancement of Chicanos and Native Americans in Science (SACNAS) 'Ilima Chapter, and SOEST 'Ike Wai Scholars. Although many of these listservs primarily serve graduate students, there is also some undergraduate participation. The social media channel is called Discord and serves my fellow GES students. The survey was also sent to 7 personal contact individuals. The survey was active for two weeks from October 13, 2020 until October 26, 2020. In order to maximize response, an email reminder was sent out two days prior to closing the survey.

#### 2.3 Data

Survey responses were collected from 29 undergraduates. The response rate cannot be computed because the survey was shared through Listservs, social media channel, and personal contacts, so the amount of people the survey was distributed to is unknown. Of the 29 responses, four indicated ethnicities not encompassed under the definition of NHPI used in this paper (see Section 1.2) and therefore did not meet the stated criteria of this study. These four responses were removed, resulting in a final dataset of 25 survey responses. Pie-charts showing the ethnicity and gender demographics of survey respondents are given in Figure 1 and 2, respectively. Of the 25 participants, 9 identified as male and 16 identified as female. No student reported a non-binary gender. Eighteen students identified as Native

Hawaiian. The remaining identified as Samoan (3), Chamorro (2), Tongan (1), and Ni-Vanuatu (1). No respondent reported more than one NHPI ethnicity.



Figure 1: Ethnicity of the survey respondents



Figure 2: Gender of the survey respondents



Figure 3: Intended degree of the survey respondents

### 2.4 Methods

*Quantification of Likert Responses.* Two five-point Likert scales were used in the survey, measuring agreement and importance. For the agreement questions, the Likert scale ranged from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree". For the importance questions, the Likert scale ranged from Not at all Important to Extremely Important. To allow for quantitative analysis, all Likert scale responses were converted to integers as shown in Table 2 (Bruno et al, 2020).

**Table 2: Likert Scale Quantification:** Quantification of Likert responses to Agreement andImportance survey items on a scale of 1 to 5.

LIKERT SCALE RESPONSE QUANTIFICATION					
	1	2	3	4	5
AGREEMENT SURVEY ITEMS	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Neither Agree nor Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
IMPORTANCE SURVEY ITEMS	Not at all Important	Slightly Important	Moderately Important	Very Important	Extremely Important

*Descriptive Statistics*. After converting Likert scale responses to their respective numerical values, the following basic descriptive statistics were computed: mean, standard error of the mean, median and mode. The means were then rounded to their closest whole number to allow for translation from numbers back to responses. These statistics were computed for the dataset as a whole and also for each barrier type, and results were compared across barrier types. Multiple-choice items were analyzed as proportional data and shown in pie charts. These results are reported in Section 3.0 Results and Discussion below.

#### 2.5 Website Development

After collection and analysis of survey results, a website was created using the platform Weebly to provide resources around the most prevalent barriers identified. Additional resources were added based on the open-ended survey responses. The target audience of this website is NHPI undergraduates pursuing STEM at the University of Hawai'i at Mānoa, although other groups might also find this website useful.

#### **3.0 Results and Discussion**

#### <u>3.1 Likert Scale Responses</u>

Descriptive statistical analysis of the Likert scale responses is shown in Table 3, which includes the mean, standard error of the mean (SEM), median and mode. Likert scale responses were distributed among their respective barriers, and the means and SEMs are shown in Figures 3-7, 10 and 11. The small sample size and large error bars make it difficult to significantly differentiate among the means. In the absence of statistically significant comparisons, the means are reported, and a possible interpretation of the results is presented.

Table 3: Likert Scale Data Analysis				
Section A. Family (see Fi	igure 3)			
Survey Item	Mean	SEM <sup>1</sup>	Median	Mode
My family obligations take time away from my studies <sup>2</sup>	3.0	1.3	3.0	2.0
My family was influential on my decision to choose a STEM major <sup>2</sup>	3.0	1.4	3.0	2.0
My family encouraged me to obtain a college degree <sup>2</sup>	4.2	1.1	5.0	5.0
Supportive Family <sup>3</sup>	3.8	1.3	4.0	5.0
Section B. Cultural Disconnect	(see Figu	re 4)		
Survey item	Mean	SEM <sup>1</sup>	Median	Mode
My STEM classes are grounded in local communities and contexts <sup>2</sup>	3.1	1.0	3.0	3.0
I understand how the material I learn can be applied outside the classroom <sup>2</sup>	4.0	0.5	4.0	4.0
Being able to relate the subject material to my personal experience <sup>3</sup>	3.9	1.3	4.0	5.0
Section C. Identity & Stereotype th	reat (see	Figure 5)		
Survey Item	Mean	SEM <sup>1</sup>	Median	Mode
My cultural background has influenced my decision to pursue my major <sup>2</sup>		1.2	4.0	4.0
My ethnicity affects how my peers interact with me <sup>2</sup>		1.2	3.0	4.0
My ethnicity influences how teachers interact with me <sup>2</sup>	2.8	1.0	3.0	3.0
Stereotypes about my ethnic groups bother me <sup>2</sup>	3.3	1.3	3.0	5.0
I am capable of succeeding in STEM <sup>2</sup>	4.5	0.6	4.0	5.0
Studying hard <sup>3</sup>	4.4	0.6	4.0	5.0

Table 3 cont.					
Section D. Awareness and Exposure to Op	portuniti	ies (see Fi	gure 6)		
Survey Item	Mean	SEM <sup>1</sup>	Median	Mode	
I am aware of the different career paths available to me with my degree <sup>2</sup>	4.1	0.9	4.0	4.0	
I have mentors who help me plan for my future <sup>2</sup>	3.9	1.3	4.0	5.0	
Having a good mentor <sup>3</sup>	4.2	1.0	4.0	5.0	
Having a role model <sup>3</sup>	3.5	1.3	4.0	5.0	
Section E. K-12 Education (see Figure 7)					
Survey Item	Mean	SEM <sup>1</sup>	Median	Mode	
My K-12 education (elementary through high school) prepared me for my STEM college courses <sup>2</sup>	3.7	0.9	4.0	4.0	
Good K-12 education <sup>3</sup>		1.0	4.0	4.0	
Section F. Financial (see F	igure 10)				
Survey Item	Mean	SEM <sup>1</sup>	Median	Mode	
I worry about not having enough money to pay for school <sup>2</sup>	4	1.3	4.0	5.0	
I struggle to balance school and work <sup>2</sup>	3.4	1.0	3.0	3.0	
Section G. Geographic (see Figure 11)					
Survey Item	Mean	SEM <sup>1</sup>	Median	Mode	
I chose UH Mānoa due to its proximity to home <sup>2</sup>	3.4	1.4	4.0	4.0	

<sup>1</sup>Standard Error of the Mean

<sup>2</sup>For this question type, survey respondents were asked to: *Please rate your agreement with the following statements*.

<sup>3</sup>For this question type, survey respondents were asked: *How important are each of the following to your success as a student studying in your area or major?* 

#### 3.1.1 Cultural Barriers





**Figure 4.** Mean responses for Likert-scale items related to <u>family</u>. Error bars correspond to  $\pm 1$  standard error of the mean.

When asked if their family obligations take time away from their studies or if their family was influential on their decision to choose a STEM major, the mean reply to both questions was "neither agree nor disagree" (mean=3.0). The other two survey items in the "Family" category generated more positive responses. Although students did not seem to feel, on average, that their family was influential in their decision to pursue STEM, they agreed that their family was influential in obtaining a college degree (mean=4.2, or "agree"). Similarly, on average, students felt that having a supportive family was "very important" (mean=3.8). These results suggest that family was influential in obtaining a college degree, although not specifically a STEM degree.

### Cultural Disconnect.



Figure 5: Mean responses for Likert-scale items related to <u>cultural disconnect</u>. Error bars correspond to  $\pm 1$  standard error of the mean.

When asked whether their STEM classes are grounded in local communities and context, the mean student reply (3.1) translated to "neither agree nor disagree". Nevertheless, students reported high mean responses to both their ability to apply knowledge learned in class outside the classroom (mean=4.0, or "agree") and on the importance of being able to relate their classes to personal experience (mean = 3.9, or "agree"). Thus, even though students did not feel that their classes were grounded in local communities, it appears that they nevertheless feel that their learning is relevant and applicable to the world around them.

#### Identity and Stereotype Threat.



**Figure 6:** Mean responses for Likert-scale items related to <u>identity and stereotype threat</u>. Error bars correspond to  $\pm 1$  standard error of the mean.

When asked whether their ethnicity influenced their interactions with teachers and peers, the average response was "neither agree nor disagree" (mean=2.8 and 2.9 respectively). Students were also asked if stereotypes about their ethnicity bother them, to which the average response was again "neither agree nor disagree" (mean=3.3). However, students agreed that their cultural background influenced their decision to pursue their major (mean=3.8, or "agree").

Irrespective of their mixed responses to the influence of culture and ethnicity, students show strong agency and control over their success in STEM. Students reported high mean responses on the importance of studying hard (mean=4.4, or "very important") and felt capable of success in STEM (mean=4.5, or "strongly agree"). Compared with all other responses, these surveys items had the highest means, as well as the smallest error bars.

### 3.1.2 Awareness and Exposure to Opportunity



**Figure 7:** Mean responses for Likert-scale items related to <u>awareness and exposure to</u> <u>opportunity</u>. Error bars correspond to  $\pm 1$  standard error of the mean.

Students reported positive average responses to questions regarding awareness and exposure to opportunity. Students indicated that they are aware to the different career paths available (mean=4.1, "agree") and that they have mentors who help them plan for their future. (mean=3.9, "agree"). They also reported that having a good mentor and role model is "very important to their success in STEM" (mean=4.2 and mean=3.5, respectively). These results may suggest that the presence of mentors and role models help students become aware of the opportunities available after their undergraduate education.

### 3.1.3 K-12 Education



**Figure 8:** Mean responses for Likert-scale items related to <u>K-12 education</u>. Error bars correspond to  $\pm 1$  standard error of the mean.

Students were asked if their K-12 education prepared them for their STEM college courses, to which the average response was "agree" (mean=3.7). When asked about the importance of a good K-12 education, the average response was "very important" (mean=3.6). Thus, participants indicated that their K-12 education is both important and effective in preparing them for college STEM courses.

#### 3.1.4 Financial Barriers

Financial barriers were assessed using Likert scale and multiple-choice survey items. The most common primary source of funding is scholarships/grants, reported by 48% of the respondents. The most common secondary source of funding is a job, reported by 28% of the respondents, followed closely by parents/family (24%) and scholarship/grants (24%). The distribution of primary and secondary sources of funding for educational expenses is shown in Figures 8 and 9, respectively.



Figure 9: Primary sources of funding for tuition, books and housing



Figure 10: Secondary sources of funding for tuition, books and housing



**Figure 11:** Mean responses for Likert-scale items related to <u>financial barriers</u>. Error bars correspond to  $\pm 1$  standard error of the mean.

When asked if they worry about not having enough money to pay for school, the average response was "agree" (mean=4.0). As scholarships/grants are the primary source of funding for these students, and they still convey financial burden, this may suggest the need for more availability of information on scholarship/grant opportunities. Students were then asked if they struggle to balance school and work, to which the average response was "neither agree nor disagree" (mean=3.4).

#### 3.1.5 Geographic Barriers



**Figure 12:** Mean responses for Likert-scale items related to <u>geographic barriers</u>. Error bars correspond to  $\pm 1$  standard error of the mean.

When asked if they chose UHM due to its proximity to home, the average response was "neither agree nor disagree" (mean=3.4). For many Pacific islanders, attending college, whether it be in the Pacific or elsewhere, means moving away from home. Therefore, proximity of the school to their home may not be a determining factor, because regardless of location, attending college will still mean leaving home.

#### 3.2 Open Ended Survey Items

The last survey items were two open-ended questions, asking respondents to suggest the types of resources or information that they would find helpful to see on a website, and to provide any additional comments. The responses are summarized in Table 4 below. The most frequently requested resources were information on scholarships (9 requests), followed by undergraduate opportunities (4), tutoring information/resources (4), and stories of other NHPI individuals in STEM (4).

 Table 4: Open-Ended Survey Responses

I am planning to develop a website containing tools to help NHPI students succeed in STEM. What kind of information would be helpful to see?

Response	# of responses
Scholarships	9
Undergraduate Opportunities (Volunteer opportunities/Internships)	4
Tutoring Information and Resources	4
NHPI Stories	4
Studying Tips	3
Further Opportunities (Post-Graduation)	2
Mentors	2
NHPI STEM news	2
Mental Health Resources	1

### 3.3 Synthesis of Survey Results

The Likert-scale survey results suggest that the NHPI survey respondents experienced many of the barriers included in the survey items. However, due to the small sample size and large error bars, I was unable to determine the relative importance of these barriers based on Likert-scale items. This made it difficult to determine the best resources to include on the website.

Fortunately, there was a clear consensus in the open-ended responses. The most common resources requested were scholarships, undergraduate opportunities, tutoring services, and stories of other NHPI individuals in STEM fields. These responses were used to inform the website.

#### 3.4 Website

A website was created on the Weebly platform (https://nhpistemsuccess.weebly.com). This website contains information on the most requested tools in the open-ended responses. The website has been designed as a user-friendly tool to share existing resources available to students, particularly NHPI students. The website contains five webpages: "Home", "Scholarships", "Undergraduate Opportunities", "Tutoring", and "NHPI Stories". The 'NHPI Stories' page includes names and photos of NHPI individuals in the STEM field (Barcinas, 2020). The individuals on this page were contacted and permission was granted for their inclusion on this page.

### 3.5 Limitations

This study has numerous limitations, a few of which are mentioned below.

First, due to federal policies protecting student privacy, contact information for all individuals in the target audience could not be obtained. Instead, the survey was shared through Listservs and personal contacts, which would almost certainly fall short of reaching all individuals under this target population.

Second, an attempt was made to find survey items that were previously validated with our target population. However, this attempt was not successful. Therefore, it is possible that the survey items do not accurately measure what they are purported to measure. Additionally, in creating a survey, some questions were phrased positively (e.g., "My family encouraged me to obtain a college degree") while others were phrased negatively (e.g., "My family family obligations take time away from my studies"), and this could introduce bias. Thus, the presence of the barriers addressed is only one explanation for the survey responses received.

Third, due to the small sample size, and resulting large error bars, many of the mean Likertscale responses could not be statistically differentiated. Therefore, I recommend caution when interpreting the data . I included a table that identified the means, standard error of means, mode, and median to provide better insight into the results.

Finally, my statistical analysis was dependent on converting the Likert scale responses to integers. This quantification assumes that each Likert item is equally spaced – for example, it assumes that the difference between "strongly disagree" (1) and "disagree" (2) is equivalent to the difference between "disagree" (2) and "neither agree nor disagree" (3), which may not be true for individual respondents (Sullivan & Artino, 2006, Bruno et al 2020).

#### 4.0 Conclusion and Suggestions for Future Work

#### 4.1 Conclusion

This study investigated the barriers faced by NHPI undergraduates in STEM at UHM. The Likert-scale survey results suggested that these NHPI students experienced many of the barriers included in the survey. However, from their responses, I was unable to determine the relative importance of these barriers. Fortunately, there was a clear consensus in the openended responses, in which students indicated resources that they would find helpful to facilitate their success. Based on their recommendations, I developed a website to help dismantle key barriers for NHPI students in STEM at UHM.

#### 4.2 Suggestions for Future Work

*Survey*. Considering the small sample size obtained in this study, I recommend a future study that is collaborative with UHM STEM departments to obtain a larger sample size and better representation of the student population. A larger, more representative sample would allow for a more comprehensive understanding of the barriers experienced by students at UHM. A more representative sample could also reveal any potential differences among different subgroups of NHPI students (e.g., by gender, NHPI ethnicity and/or STEM fields). A larger sample including participants of different majors could also help inform departmental change to better dismantle the barriers in their specific field.

*Website*. It is also recommended that the website created in this study be expanded and made available to all NHPI undergraduates in STEM at UHM, so they are equipped with resources for success at the start of their undergraduate STEM careers. Currently, the website is not easily accessible to students within the UH system, as it has not yet been adopted by any UHM STEM programs. Additionally, the responsibility of this website has not been given to any ongoing university group or program. To ensure that the website maintains its relevance over time as external resources change, it is recommended that one or more STEM programs adopt this resource.

### Appendix: Student survey

# **Student Survey**

This survey is aimed at gathering information from Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander students in STEM at the University of Hawaii at Manoa. It will take about 6 minutes to complete. Your participation is voluntary and you can stop at any time. The information you provide will be used to develop a website to address challenges faced by NHPI students in STEM. Individual responses will NOT be shared outside of this specific project.

If you have any questions about this survey, please contact Arisa Barcinas at arisatb@hawaii.edu.

Please rate your agreement with the following statements

Mark only one oval per row.

	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neither Agree nor Disagree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
My STEM classes are grounded in local communities and contexts.	0	0	0	0	0
I understand how the material I learn can be applied outside the classroom	0	0	0	0	0
My cultural background has influenced my decision to pursue my major	0	0	Ō	0	0
My family obligations take time away from my studies	0	0	0	0	0
My family was influential on my decision to choose a STEM major	0	0	0	0	0
My family encouraged me to obtain a college degree	0	0	0	0	0
My ethnicity affects how my peers interact with me	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0

My ethnicity influences how teachers interact with me	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	0
Stereotypes about my ethnic groups bother me	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0
I am capable of succeeding in STEM	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	0
I am aware of the different career paths available to me with my degree	0	0	0	0	0
I have mentors who help me plan for my future	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	0
I chose UH Manoa due to its proximity to home	0	0	0	0	0
My K-12 education (elementary through high school) prepared me for my STEM college courses	0	0	0	0	0
I worry about not having enough money to pay for school	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0
I struggle to balance school and work	0	$\bigcirc$	0	Ó	0

My PRIMARY funding source for tuition, books and housing (select the best answer)

Mark	only	one	oval.

- Student loans
- Scholarship/grants
- Parents/Family
- Job

\*

- Personal savings
- Other:

My SECONDARY source of funding for tuition, books and housing (select the best answer)  $^{\ast}$ 

Mark only one oval.

C	Student loans
C	Scholarship/grants
C	Parents/Family
C	dol
C	Personal savings
C	Other:

How important are each of the following to your success as a student studying in your area or major? \*

Mark only one oval per row.

	Extremely important	Very important	Moderately important	Slightly important	Not at all important
Having a passion for it	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Being able to relate the subject material to my personal experience	0	0	0	0	0
Studying hard	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Supportive family	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Good K-12 education	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
Having a good mentor	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Having a role model	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

What is your intended major?

What gender do you identify as?

Mark only one oval.

Male

Female

Prefer not to say

Other:

Please select your ethnicity

Mark only one oval.

- Carolinian Chamorro Chuukese
- 🔵 Fijian
- 🕖 Hawaiian
- Marshallese
- 🕖 Palauan
- Pohnpeian
- Papua New Guinean
- Samoan
- O Tokelauan
- O Tongan
- O Yapese

Other:

I am planning to develop a website containing tools to help NHPI students succeed in STEM. What kind of information would be helpful to see?

Any other comments?

### References

- American College Test (ACT) & Asian and Pacific Islander American Scholarship Fund (APIASF). (2016). *The Condition of College & Career Readiness 2015: Pacific Islander Students*. Retrieved December 10, 2020, from https://apiascholars.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/04/2015\_Pacific\_Islander.pdf
- Aikenhead, G., & Ogawa, M. (2007). Indigenous knowledge and science revisited. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, 2(3), 539–620. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11422-007-9067-8
- Barcinas, A. (2020). *Home*. Tools for Success. Retrieved December 03, 2020, from https://nhpistemsuccess.weebly.com/
- Barnett, J. (2005). Titanic States? Impacts and Responses to Climate Change in the Pacific Islands. *Journal of International Affairs*, 59(1), 203-219. Retrieved December 07 2020, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/24358240
- Bruno, B.C., C. Heu, and G. Weyenberg. (2020). How do advisor assessments of diverse undergraduate researchers compare with the students' self-assessments? And what does this imply for how we train and assess students? *Oceanography* 33(2):134-143, https://doi.org/10.5670/oceanog.2020.210.
- College Board. (2020). *AP Course Ledger*. AP Course Audit. Retrieved December 10, 2020, from apcourseaudit.inflexion.org/ledger/.

Department of Business, Economic Development and Tourism (2018). *Demographic, Social, Economic and Housing Characteristics for Selected Race Groups in Hawaii*. Retrieved December 09, 2020, from

https://files.hawaii.gov/dbedt/economic/reports/SelectedRacesCharacteristics\_HawaiiR eport.pdf

Grieco, E. M. (1997). *Revisions to the Standards for the Classification of Federal Data on Race and Ethnicity*. U.S. Census Bureau.

- Grieco, E. (2000). The native Hawaiian and other Pacific Islander population. U.S. Dept. of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, U.S. Census Bureau.
- Native Hawaiian & Pacific Islander Alliance (2008). *Guidance on the Classification of Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islanders*. Retrieved October 25, 2020, from https://www.apiahf.org/wp-content/uploads/2008/01/Guidance-on-the-Classificationof-NHPIs.pdf
- Hagedorn, L., Tibbets, K., Moon, H., & Lester, J. (2003). Factors Contributing to College Retention in the Native Hawaiian Population. Iowa State University.
- Handy, E. (1950). The Hawaiian Family System. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society*, *59*(2), 170–190.
- Harris Interactive. (2011). STEM Perceptions: Student & Parent Study. Survey Results.
  Microsoft Corp. Retrieved November 14, 2020, from https://news.microsoft.com/download/archived/presskits/citizenship/docs/STEMPerce ptionsReport.pdf

- Hezel, F. X. (2013). Making sense of Micronesia: The logic of Pacific Island culture.Honolulu: University of Hawai'i Press.
- Hughes, J. (2016). Rethinking and Updating Demographic Questions: Guidance to Improve Descriptions of Research Samples. *Psi Chi Journal of Psychological Research*, 21(3), 138–151. https://doi.org/10.24839/b21.3.138
- Kerr, J., Hess, D., Smith, C., Hadfield, M., & Kerr, J. (2018). Recognizing and Reducing Barriers to Science and Math Education and STEM Careers for Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders. *CBE Life Sciences Education*, 17(4), mr1–mr1. https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.18-06-0091
- Kimmerer, R. (2013) Contemporary Studies in Environmental and Indigenous Pedagogies: Curricula of Stories and Place. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6209-293-8
- Lee, C. (2015). Asian American and Pacific Islander Wealth Inequality and Developing Paths to Financial Security. *AAPI Nexus: Policy, Practice and Community, 13*(1-2), vii–xiv. https://doi.org/10.17953/1545-0317.13.1.vii
- Levine, V. (2015). Education in Pacific Island states: Reflections on the failure of "grand remedies." Honolulu, HI: East-West Center.
- National Academy of Science. (2011). Expanding underrepresented minority participation America's science and technology talent at the crossroads. *National Academies Press*.
- Pavel, D. (1999). American Indians and Alaska Natives in Higher Education: Promoting Access and Achievement. Undefined, 1–21. http://search.proquest.com/docview/62473578/

- Ratliffe, K. (2010). Family obligations in Micronesian cultures: implications for educators. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 23(6), 671–690. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518390903468339
- Richardson, K. (2002). Think global, hire local. *Far Eastern Economic Review*, *165*(46), 70–71. http://search.proquest.com/docview/208230952/
- Sablan, Jenna. (2015). *Pacific Islanders and College Readiness*. Pullias Center for Higher Education. Retrieved December 10, 2020, from https://pullias.usc.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2015/05/Jenna-Sablan-Pacific-Islanders-and-College-Readiness1.pdf
- Sheridan, D. (2017). A native Hawaiian teacher shatters a stereotype in her classroom while becoming an activist in her community. National Education Association. Retrieved December 10, 2020, from https://neaedjustice.org/2017/02/17/native-hawaiianteacher-shatters-stereotype-classroom-becoming-activist-community/
- Steele, C. M., & Aronson, J. (1995). Stereotype threat and the intellectual test performance of African-Americans. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69, 797-811
- Sullivan, G. M., & Artino, A. R., Jr (2013). Analyzing and interpreting data from Likert-type scales. *Journal of graduate medical education*, 5(4), 541–542. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-5-4-18
- Teranishi, R.T., Le, A., Gutierrez, R. A. E., Venturanza, R., Gogue, D. T., Uluave, L. (2019). Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islanders in higher education: a call to action. *Asian Pacific Islander Association*.

- Tran, J., Wong, M., Wright, E. K., Fa'avae, J., Cheri, A., Wat, E., ... Foo, M. A. (2010).
  Understanding a Pacific Islander young adult perspective on access to higher
  education. *Californian Journal of Health Promotion*, 8, 23–38
- Trask, H., & Trask, H. (1999). From a native daughter: colonialism and sovereignty in Hawai'i (Rev. ed.). University of Hawai'i Press.
- Tribble, Gordon (2008) Ground water on tropical Pacific Islands--understanding a vital resource. U.S. Geological Survey Circular 1312, 35 Retrieved December 08, 2020, from [https://pubs.usgs.gov/circ/1312/].
- U.S Fish and Wildlife Services. (2011) *Climate Change in the Pacific Islands*. Retrieved December 2020, from https://www.fws.gov/pacific/climatechange/changepi.html
- U.S Food and Drug Administration. (2019) Institutional Review Boards and Protection of Human Subjects in Clinical Trials. Retrieved November 21, 2020, from https://www.fda.gov/about-fda/center-drug-evaluation-and-researchcder/institutional-review-boards-irbs-and-protection-human-subjects-clinical-trials
- Vakalahi, H. F. O. (2008). Pacific Islander American students: Caught between a rock and a hard place? *Children and Youth Services Review* 31 1258–1263
- White House Initiative on Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders. (n.d.) Fact sheet: What you should know about Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders. Washington, DC.
  Retrieved November 10, 2020, from www2.ed.gov/about/inits/list/asian-americans-initiative/what-you-should-know.

Yau, N. (2017). *Most Common Family Types in America*. Retrieved December 08, 2020, from https://flowingdata.com/2016/07/20/modern-family-structure/